SUPREME COURT FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

AUG 2 4 2017

Jorge Navarrele Clerk

Case No.: S242034

Deputy

Court of Appeal Consolidated Case No.: D069626

CATHERINE A. BOLING, ET AL. and CITY OF SAN DIEGO, Petitioners.

ν.

PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD,

Respondent,

SAN DIEGO MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION, DEPUTY CITY ATTORNEYS ASSOCIATION, AMERICAN FEDERATION OF STATE, COUNTY AND MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES, AFL-CIO, LOCAL 127, SAN DIEGO CITY FIREFIGHTERS, LOCAL 145, IAFF, AFL-CIO

Real Parties in Interest.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE Consolidated Case Nos. D069626 and D069630

Relations Bd. (1989) 210 Cal.App.3d 178
People ex. rel Seal Beach Police Officers Ass'n v. City of Seal Beach (1984) 36 Cal. 3d 591
PERB v. Modesto City Schools Dist. (1982) 136 Cal.App.3d 881 44
Regents of the University of California v. PERB (1986) 41 Cal.3d 601 . 42
Sammis v. Stafford (1996) 48 Cal.App.4th 1935 59
San Diego Housing Commission v. PERB (2016) 246 Cal.App.4th 1
San Diego Municipal Employees Assn. v. Super. Ct. (2012) 206 Cal.App.4th 1447
San Diego Teachers Assn. v. Super. Ct. (1979) 24 Cal.3d 1 37
San Francisco Firefighters v. Bd. of Supervisors (1979) 96 Cal.App.3d 538
San Mateo City School Dist. v. Public Employment Relations Board (1983) 33 Cal.3d 850
Santa Clara County Counsel Attorneys Ass'n v. Woodside (1994) 7 Cal. 4th 525
Solano County Employees' Assn. v. County of Solano (1982) 136 Cal.App.3d 256
Superior Farming Co. v. ALRB (1984) 151 Cal.App.3d 110
Telish v. California State Personnel Bd. (2015) 234 Cal.App.4th 1479 . 41
Van't Rood v. County of Santa Clara (2003) 113 Cal.App.4th 549 55
Vernon Fire Fighters v. City of Vernon (1980) 107 Cal.App.3d 802 48

County of San Bernardino (Office of the Public Defender) (2015) PERB Decision No. 2423-M
Regents of the University of California (2005) PERB Decision No. 1771-H
<u>Statutes</u>
Civ. Code § 2317
Civ. Code § 2330
Gov. Code § 3203
Gov. Code § 3209
Gov. Code § 3500
Gov. Code § 3501
Gov. Code §§ 3502-3503
Gov. Code § 3504
Gov. Code § 3504.5 passim
Gov. Code § 3505
Gov. Code § 3505.1
Gov. Code § 3509
Gov. Code § 3509.5
Gov. Code 8 3540 54

Regulations

PERB Regulation, CCR, tit. 8, § 32016
PERB Regulation, CCR, tit. 8, § 32603(c)
PERB Regulations, CCR, tit. 8, §§ 32450-32455
Constitutions
California Constitution Article XI, § 3(b)
City Charter § 1
City Charter § 265
City Charter § 280
City Charter § 290
City Charter, Art. XV

ISSUES PRESENTED 1

- (1) When a final decision of the Public Employment Relations Board (PERB) is challenged in the Court of Appeal pursuant to section 3509.5, subdivision (b), of the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act (MMBA), are PERB's interpretations of the statutes it administers and its findings of fact subject to deference under the "clearly erroneous" standard or are they subject to de novo review?
- (2) Do the MMBA's good faith meet-and-confer obligations apply to public agencies under section 3505 or do these obligations apply only to the public agencies' governing bodies when they propose to take formal action affecting employee wages, hours, or other terms and conditions of employment under section 3504.5?

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL SUMMARY

I. The Parties

PERB was established by the Legislature in 1976 as the state's expert administrative agency to administer collective bargaining for covered governmental employees. Since 2001, PERB has been vested with exclusive initial jurisdiction to interpret and enforce the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act (MMBA), Government Code section 3500 et seq., which applies to cities,

¹ This Court's Order states that the petitions for review are granted and that briefing on the issues raised in the petition for review filed by petitioners Catherine Boling, T. J. Zane and Stephen Williams is deferred pending further order of this court. (Cal. Rules Ct., rule 8.520(b)(2).)

counties and special districts. PERB determines whether charges of unfair practices are justified and, if so, what remedy is necessary to effectuate the purposes of the Act. (§3509, subd. (b); *Coachella Valley Mosquito and Vector Control Dist. v. PERB* (2005) 35 Cal.4th 1072, 1077 [*Coachella*].)

The City of San Diego (City) is a charter city and a "public agency" subject to the MMBA. (§ 3501, subd. (c); AR:III:842.)²

The San Diego Municipal Employees Association (MEA), the Deputy City Attorneys Association of San Diego (DCAA), the American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO, Local 127 (AFSCME), and the San Diego City Firefighters, Local 145, IAFF, AFL-CIO (Firefighters)(collectively, Unions) is each a "recognized employee organization" (§ 3501, subdivision (b)) and an "exclusive representative" (PERB Regulation, CCR, tit. 8, §32016, subd. (B)), for an appropriate unit of City employees. Unions were the charging parties in the consolidated proceedings before PERB and real parties in interest in the Court of Appeal.

Catherine A. Boling, T. J. Zane, and Stephen B. Williams (collectively, Ballot Proponents) were the official proponents of a local initiative, referred to as the Comprehensive Pension Reform Initiative (CPRI) or Proposition B, which amended the City Charter to change certain terms and conditions of employment, including the elimination of defined benefit pensions for all new

² Citations to the 24-volume Administrative Record are abbreviated as "[volume number]:[page number]."

hires except sworn police officers. Although Ballot Proponents did not participate as parties in PERB's administrative proceedings, they filed a petition for writ of extraordinary relief (D069626), and were also named as real parties in interest in the City's petition (D069630).

II. The Underlying Facts³

A. By Charter Mandate, the City of San Diego's "Strong Mayor" Serves As City's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Labor Negotiator

City Charter article XV establishes a "Strong Mayor Form of Government," defining roles and veto power for a "Strong Mayor" elected on a City-wide basis and a 9-member City Council elected by Districts. (XIII:3337-3338; XIV:3512; XVII:4492-4502; XVIII:4707-40; XXI:5532-47.)

When sworn into office, the City's Mayor agrees to serve as the City's Chief Executive Officer, responsible for the day-to-day operations of the City functioning as a business, government, and employer. (XIII:3348-3349; City Charter § 265.) The Mayor is an elected official serving in a City-paid position as City's CEO. The City Attorney's Office (under Jan Goldsmith) published a Memorandum of Law (MOL) in January 2009 (XVIII:4719-4739)⁴

³ All citations are either to the Administrative Record or, where applicable, the opinion in *Boling v. Public Employment Relations Bd.* (2017) 10 Cal.App.5th 853 [*Boling*], on which review was granted.

⁴ This MOL was published to clarify the duties of Mayor and City Council in response to PERB's determination in a prior case (Case No. LA-CE-352-M) that City had violated the MMBA. (*Id.* 4719-4720.)

entitled "Impasse Procedures Under Strong Mayor Trial Form of Governance." which addresses the respective roles of the Mayor and City Council on behalf of the City as a "municipal corporation" and "single employer" under the MMBA. (XII:3191-3193; XVIII:4626-38, 4727-8.) As the City's elected chief executive officer, the Mayor gives controlling direction to the administrative service; recommends to the Council such measures and ordinances the Mayor deems necessary or expedient for the City and its residents; makes other recommendations to the Council concerning the affairs of the City as the Mayor finds desirable; has inherent authority and responsibility for labor negotiations because it is an administrative function of local government; and retains veto power over certain Council legislative actions. It is the Mayor who must "ensure that the City's responsibilities under section 3500, subdivision (a) of the MMBA as they relate to communication with employees are met." (XVII:4493; XVIII:4721, 4727-4728.)

The Mayor also serves as City's Chief Labor Negotiator in collective bargaining with City's recognized employee organizations, including Unions. It is the Mayor's duty (1) to conduct a good faith meet and confer process under the MMBA "whenever, under the law, the obligation to meet and confer is triggered" (XIII:3349); (2) to communicate with City's employees and their Unions in a manner consistent with the MMBA; and (3) to give direction to City's Negotiating Team and determine City's bargaining objectives – what

concessions, reforms, changes in terms and conditions of employment are important to achieve. (XIII:3349-3352; XII-3191-3193; XIV:3705; XVIII:4721, 4727-4728.) The Mayor's role is not an advisory function but rather "it is the Mayor who must ensure that City's responsibilities under section 3500, subdivision (a) of the MMBA [...] are met," (XVIII:4721, 4727-4728), and it is the Mayor's "duty to negotiate with Unions in an attempt to reach agreement for the Council's consideration and possible adoption." (XVIII:4728)

B. The Mayor's "Tentative Agreements" With Recognized Employee Organizations Are Submitted to the City Council

Subject to the terms of the City Charter and the State's Constitution, all legislative powers of the City are vested in the City Council, except those legislative powers reserved to the people by the Charter and the State Constitution. The Council adopts an annual salary ordinance establishing salaries for all City employees, subject to the Mayor's veto power. (XVII:4493 [Charter § 265], 4498-4501 [Charter §§ 280, 290]; XVIII:4636-4637, 4714.) Any tentative agreement the Mayor reaches with a recognized employee organization is submitted to the Council for determination under MMBA, Government Code section 3505.1. Because the Council has "ultimate authority to set salaries and to approve Memoranda of Understanding," (XVIII:4738-4739), the City Attorney recommends, and the Mayor follows, a bargaining protocol to foster "the core principle of the decisional law related to the

MMBA (which) is the duty to bargain in good faith." (XIII:3349-3352; XVIII:4726-4730, 4733, 4736-9.) Though not required by the Charter, the Mayor obtains Council's pre-approval for any proposed increase in wages or benefits before offered to Unions. This practice avoids an end-of-bargaining disconnect between any tentative agreement the Mayor brokers and what the Council is willing to approve. The Council is empowered to reject the Mayor's "last, best and final" offer during any impasse proceeding but the Mayor remains in control of the bargaining process. (XVII:4493 [Charter §265], 4498-4501 [§§280, 290]; XVIII:4636-4637, 4714.)

C. City's Course of Meet-and-Confer Confirms the Mayor's and City Council's Respective Roles Under the MMBA

1. Charter Amendments For the November 2006 Ballot

In 2006, Mayor Sanders met and conferred with Unions regarding two ballot proposals designed to amend the City's Charter on negotiable subjects:

(1) requiring a vote of the electorate to approve future increases in pension benefits; and (2) authorizing bargaining unit work to be contracted out under a managed competition system. Meet-and-confer concluded by the deadline for the Council to put these two measures on the ballot. (XIII:3345.)

2. A New Defined Benefit Pension Plan For New Hires

In 2008, Mayor Sanders led negotiations with Unions for a new "hybrid" defined benefit/defined contribution pension plan to de-incentivize early retirements and reduce the City's pension costs. (XIV:3628-3630;

XX:5354-56.) The Mayor opened a press conference outside City Hall to announce his tentative agreement:

We are all assembled here today to announce that the unions and I as the City's lead negotiator have arrived at a tentative agreement regarding pension reform. [...] I think it's in the best interest of all parties that we arrived at this arrangement and would urge the City Council to pass it unanimously once it's before them. (XXI:5519 [video clip].)

The Council approved the new plan which became a term of a Council-approved Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) effective July 1, 2009, through June 30, 2011 – an MOU which also included negotiated compensation reductions, and City's agreement to meet and confer if City proposed to introduce ballot measures related to wages, hours, working conditions or employee-employer relations."(XII:3183-3185; XIV:3518-3519; XIX:4917.)

3. "Tentative Agreements" on Compensation Reductions, Firefighters' Pension Formula, and Retiree Health Benefits

In spring 2011, Council approved the Mayor's tentative agreement with MEA to extend its existing MOU through June 30, 2012, while continuing in effect the six percent (6%) compensation reduction begun on July 1, 2009, as well as other economic concessions. (XII:3185-3188; XIX:5023-26, 5045-46.) The Mayor also reached a tentative agreement with Firefighters for a one-year extension of its MOU through June 30, 2012, which included the concession the Mayor sought to reduce the pension formula applicable to future

firefighters from the existing "3%-at-age-50" to a less favorable "3%-at-age-55." (XIII:3473; XXI:5525-30.)

In May, the Mayor led a press conference to announce that an "historic" tentative agreement with Unions on retiree healthcare benefits would be submitted to the Council for action. (XIII:3425-3426; XIV:3522-3523; XIX:5049-52, 5054-55.) This agreement, which Council approved, achieved "record savings" – \$714 million over 25 years [revised upward to a savings of \$802.2 million, (XX:5275-76)], accompanied by a reduction in City's unfunded liability from \$1.1 billion to \$568 million. (XIX:5049-5052; 5054-55, 5063-64, 5066-5072, 5074-5104; XIV:3523.)

- D. Meanwhile, the Mayor Unilaterally Made and Implemented A Policy Decision to Seek 401(k) Pension Reform By Use of A Citizens' Initiative To Avoid Bargaining
- 1. Joined By City's Chief Operating Officer and the City Attorney During A City Hall Press Conference, The Mayor Announced His Decision

With a new pension plan having been negotiated and adopted for those hired after July 1, 2009 – and with further concession bargaining in progress on compensation and retiree health benefits – the Mayor decided, after discussions with his staff, that he "would promote and pursue a 401(k)-style pension concept as his focus during his last two years in office," and use a citizens' initiative rather than a Council-sponsored ballot proposal. 5 (*Boling* at

⁵ There was *no* citizens' initiative pending or circulating.

858-859; XIII:3306-3307; XIV:3527, 3531-3532; XV:3835-3836.) The Mayor did not believe the Council would put his 401(k) proposal on the ballot, and, in any event, going to the Council to achieve this "reform" would require negotiating with Unions and perhaps "unacceptable compromises." (*Ibid.*) In a tape-recorded interview, the Mayor explained his rationale:

"[W]hen you go out and signature gather and it costs a tremendous amount of money, it takes a tremendous amount of time and effort But you do that so that you get the ballot initiative on that you actually want. [A]nd that's what we did. Otherwise, we'd have gone through the meet and confer and you don't know what's going to go on at that point"

(10 Cal.App.5th at 859, fn. 2.)

In furtherance of his decision, the Mayor's Office issued a press release in early November 2010 declaring the Mayor's intent to "place an initiative on the ballot" to implement a "radical idea" of eliminating traditional pensions for new hires at the City "as part of his aggressive agenda [...] for eliminating the city's \$73 million structural deficit by the time he leaves office in 2012." (XVIII:4742-4743.)⁷ This "Mayor Jerry Sanders Fact Sheet" bore City's seal;

⁶ The Mayor never asked the Council to consider the subject matter covered by his initiative. (XIII:3465-3466.) "Having decided that the citizens' initiative was the right way to go" to achieve 401(k)-style pension reform," he also never directed his Negotiating Team to present his proposal to Unions for bargaining. (XIII:3354, 3465; XV:3853-3854.)

⁷ By February 2012 (months before Prop B was on the ballot) this \$73 million structural deficit had been eliminated (in part due to concession bargaining), and, by April 2012 (before Prop B went to the voters), City projected a balanced budget for the following fiscal year, and a budget surplus for the successive five years. (XIV:3524-3525; XX:5269-5270, 5272-5273, 5278-79.)

explained that the Mayor's "administration was re-think(ing) how City provides services to the public;" and confirmed that "items requiring meet-and-confer, such as reducing the city's retiree health care liability (were) in negotiations and on track to have a deal by April." (*Ibid.*) However, the "headline" was the Mayor's plan to "push a ballot measure to eliminate traditional pensions for new hires" and to do so in furtherance of *City's* interests. (XVIII:4742.)

The Mayor's staff posted this "Mayor Jerry Sanders Fact Sheet" on City's website. Standing before the City seal on the 11th floor of City Hall – joined by City's Chief Operating Officer, Councilmember Kevin Faulconer and the City Attorney – the Mayor held a "kick-off" press conference to announce his initiative. (*Boling* at 859 and fn. 3 & 4; XVIII:4742-43, 4747; XIII:3307-3309, 3312-3313, 3319-3320; XV:3914-3915, 3917; XIV:3533-3534.) Media coverage informed the public that "San Diego voters will soon be seeing signature-gatherers for a ballot measure that would end guaranteed pensions for new [C]ity employees." (*Boling* at 859.)

The Mayor's Office also issued a news release to announce the Mayor's decision. Councilmember Faulconer disseminated this news release by e-mail

⁸ It is undisputed that Mayor Sanders was acting for the *City's* benefit after deciding that 401(k)-style pension reform was a "necessary and expedient" measure to eliminate City's structural budget deficit and "permanently fix" City's financial situation. (XIII:3312-3313; XV:3918-3923; XXIII:5764, 5766.)

stating that the Mayor and he "would craft a groundbreaking [pension] reform ballot measure and lead the signature-gathering effort to place the measure before voters." (*Ibid.*) Using <u>JerrySanders@sandiego.gov</u>, the Mayor's Office sent a mass e-mail to several thousand community leaders and others with the Mayor's message that he would "craft language and gather signatures for a ballot initiative to eliminate public pensions as we know them." (*Ibid*; XXIII:5747-49; XV:3907-3908, 3910-3911, 3912-3913.)

In early December 2010, Mayor Sanders' City-paid staff began promoting his pension reform initiative to the media and others. (XIII:3320-3322; XV:3922-3925, 3989-3990; XVIII:4772; XXIII:5810-12, 5923-24, 5926.) The Mayor built support with key business groups and individuals, including Ballot Proponents who became the initiative's "official proponents." (XV:3918-3921; XXIII:5806-08.) The Mayor personally promoted his pension reform initiative plan before the Chamber of Commerce's public policy committee and its full Board of Directors. (XV:3797-3800, 3925-3927: XVIII:4474, 4786; XXIII:5764, 5766.) He formed a campaign committee "San Diegans for Pension Reform" (SDPR) under FPPC rules, to "push forward with financing and fund-raising." (XIII:3378-3379, 3409-3411, 3432-3435, 3437-3440; XVIII:4782-84; XIX:4980-81, 4990-5002.) The committee's treasurer gave updates to the Mayor's Deputy Chief of Staff who kept "tabs" on the committee's activities. (XV:3816-3817.)

On January 7, 2011, the Mayor's Director of Communications sent an e-mail to Fox News: "We're eliminating employee pensions as we know them and putting in place a 401(k) plan like the private sector. My boss, San Diego Mayor Jerry Sanders, is available any time to come on The Factor to talk about what he's doing here in San Diego and the greater national problem." (XIII:3329-3331; XVIII:4788.)

2. The Mayor Announced His Policy Decision Directly to the City Council When Delivering His Charter-Mandated "State of the City" Address

In January 2011, the Mayor delivered his annual, Charter-mandated "State of the City" Address *directly to the City Council* to report on "the conditions and affairs of City" and to make "recommendations on such matters as he or she may deem expedient and proper." (*Boling* at 859; City Charter, Art. XV § 265(c); XVII:4494.) Vowing to "complete our financial reforms and eliminate our structural budget deficit," the Mayor described the "bold step" of creating a 401(k)-style plan for future employees to "contain pension costs and restore sanity to a situation confronting every big city:"

"Councilman Kevin Faulconer, the city attorney and I will soon bring to voters an initiative to enact a 401(k)-style plan [...]. We are acting in the public interest, but as private citizens." (*Boling* at 859; XIX:4832, 4836.)

Another press release confirmed the Mayor's promise that "the ballot initiative next year will build on [his] earlier pension reforms which are projected to save \$400 million over the next 30 years." (*Boling* at 859; XVIII:4816.)

In the months following his "State of the City" Address – with *no* citizens' initiative filed or pending – the Mayor, aided by his staff, continued to develop, evaluate, promote and publicize his pension reform initiative while fine-tuning its terms based on the legal and financial analyses he commissioned. (*Boling* at 859-860 and fn. 6; XIII:3380-3385; XIV:3545-3549; XV:3809-3811, 3827-3828, 3937-3942, 3948-3951, 3990-3991; XIX:4983-84, 4986-88; XXIII:5782-83, 5814-30, 5928-30.)

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