IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CATHERINE A. BOLING; T.J. ZANE; AND STEPHEN B. WILLIAMS.

FILED

SUPREME COURT

OCT 1 1 2017

Petitioners,

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

 ν .

Deputy

PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS BOARD,

Respondent,

CITY OF SAN DIEGO; SAN DIEGO MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION; DEPUTY CITY ATTORNEYS ASSOCIATION, AMERICAN FEDERATION OF STATE, COUNTY AND MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES, AFL-CIO, LOCAL 127; AND SAN DIEGO CITY FIREFIGHTERS LOCAL 145

Real Parties in Interest

After a Decision of the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Consolidated Case Nos. D069629 and D069630

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

III. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeal Correctly Applied a *De Novo*Standard of Review Pursuant to *Yamaha* as the Material
Facts Were Undisputed and PERB's Determination the
CPRI Was Not a "Pure" Citizens' Initiative Turned
Nearly Entirely on Application of Legal Principles
Outside of PERB's Expertise

PERB and the Unions contend the Court of Appeal's Opinion created a conflict regarding the proper standard of review that should be applied when an appellate court considers PERB's interpretation of statutes within its jurisdiction. They contend the "clearly erroneous" standard of *Banning Teachers Ass'n v. PERB (Banning)*, 44 Cal. 3d 799 (1988) should have been applied, as opposed to the "de novo" standard of review the

Court of Appeal found was applicable pursuant to Yamaha Corp. of America v. State Bd. of Equalization (Yamaha), 19 Cal. 4th 1 (1998). They argue the Opinion "overextends" Yamaha.

Their argument for application of the clearly erroneous standard of review is overly simplistic and ignores the glaring differences between *Banning* and the case at issue. The *Banning* Court was only addressing a pure labor relations issue that clearly fell within the Education Employment Relations Act (EERA), an area unquestionably within PERB's expertise. *Banning*, 44 Cal. 3d at 804-05. *Banning* determined the Court of Appeal's application of a per se rule that parity agreements were illegal, in part to spare the reviewing court the task of having to examine claims on a case-by-case basis, deprived PERB "of its statutory function to investigate, determine, and take action on unfair practice charges to effectuate the policy of the EERA" and therefore failed to provide PERB's interpretation the deference to which it was entitled. *Id.* at 805.

The situation confronted by PERB in this case was nothing like the situation in *Banning*. It was undeniably unique, and presented a confluence of numerous areas of law outside of PERB's expertise. (Opn. at pp. 43-44.) Accordingly, the Court of Appeal looked to *Yamaha* for guidance as to the appropriate standard of review to apply to an administrative agency's statutory interpretation. The Opinion correctly construed *Yamaha* as recognizing that in our tripartite system of government, "it is the judiciary – not the legislative or executive branches – that is charged with the final responsibility to determine questions of law" and the weight to be accorded to an administrative agency's interpretation is "fundamentally situational." (Opn. at p. 26.) "The standard for judicial review of agency interpretation of law is the *independent judgment* of the court, giving *deference* to the

determination of the agency *appropriate* to the circumstances of the agency action." (Opn. at p. 24 (quoting *Yamaha*, 19 Cal. 4th at 8 (italics in original)).) An agency's expertise or comparative interpretative advantage over the reviewing court is a major factor to what level of deference and agency's interpretation should be provided. In a situation such as *Banning*, a pure labor relations issue within PERB's expertise, a deferential standard of review is appropriate.

Here, however, PERB's Decision nullified the effects of the CPRI³ based on its erroneous conclusion that the CPRI was not a citizen sponsored initiative, but rather a governing body sponsored initiative subject to the MMBA. As the Court of Appeal Opinion noted, such a determination rested nearly entirely on PERB's application of the interplay among the City's charter (and Sanders' powers and responsibilities thereunder), common law agency principles, and California's constitutional and statutory provisions governing charter amendments. (Opn. at p. 43.) PERB's Decision "did not turn upon the resolution of material facts (to which the deferential 'substantial evidence' standard would apply) or upon PERB's application of legal principles of which PERB's special expertise with the legal and regulatory milieu surrounding the disputed legal principles would warrant deference." ** Id. at 43-44. PERB's and the

The Opinion recognized that PERB ordered, among other remedies, "that the City in effect refuse to comply with the CPRI." (Opn. at p. 5.)

The Opinion correctly concluded that when the material facts are undisputed, as they were in the present case, the question of the existence of a principal agent relationship is a matter of law to be decided by the courts. (Opn. at p. 44 n.34 (citing Kaplan v. Caldwell Banker Residential Affiliates, Inc., 59 Cal. App. 4th 741, 745 (1997); see also Troost v. Estate of DeBoer, 155 Cal. App. 3d 289, 299 (1984) (noting that if the essential facts are not in conflict the question of the existence of an agency

Unions' briefs are absent of any case law or authority evidencing it holds any expertise with regards to constitutional law governing voter initiatives or common law agency to which the courts should defer.

Therefore, following *Yamaha's* circumstantial approach, the Court of Appeal correctly applied a de novo standard of review as PERB lacks the requisite expertise and holds no comparative advantage over the Court of Appeal with regards to interpreting "the constitutional or statutory scheme governing initiatives" or "common law principles of agency." (Opn. at p. 44.) In fact, giving PERB deference regarding its determination of whether a citizens' initiative is "pure" or "impure" would conflict with this Court's determination that it is the solemn duty of the courts (not PERB) "to jealously guard the precious initiative power, and to resolve any reasonable doubts in favor of its existence." *Legislature v. Eu*, 54 Cal. 3d 492, 501 (1991).

The Opinion does not create any conflict with *Banning* because the cases are completely distinguishable. Likewise, *Cumero v. PERB*, 49 Cal. 3d 575 (1989), is distinguishable as it did not involve the convergence of numerous areas of law outside of PERB's expertise, nor did it involve an underlying decision that eviscerated the constitutional rights of an elected official, initiative proponents, petition signers, and the City's electorate.

relationship is a question of law).) Accordingly, any claim that the Opinion created a conflict with *Inglewood Teachers Ass'n v. PERB*, 227 Cal. App. 3d 767 (1991) is incorrect, as *Inglewood* did not involve a situation where the material facts were undisputed. Nor did *Inglewood* involve a situation undeniably outside of PERB's expertise such as determining what is, or is not, a "pure" citizens' initiative. Also, as the Opinion pointed out, "courts in other contexts have declined to accord any deference when the PERB decision does not adequately evaluate and apply common law principles." (Opn. at p. 26 n.21 (citing *Los Angeles Unified School Dist. v. PERB*, 191 Cal. App. 3d 551, 556-57 (1983)).)

Furthermore, PERB's Decision acknowledged "the City raised some significant and difficult questions about the applicability of the MMBA's meet-and-confer requirement to a pure citizens' initiative," however, it concluded "those issues are not implicated by the facts of this case," and therefore did not address them and invited the parties to raise them with the court. (XI AR 186:003006.) Thus, PERB invited the Court of Appeal to review its decision de novo.

B. The Court of Appeal Opinion Did Ultimately Determine PERB's Decision Was Legally Erroneous

Regardless of the standard of review applied, the Opinion ultimately correctly concluded that based on the undisputed facts the legal conclusions underlying PERB's Decision were erroneous. When the material facts are undisputed and a Court is presented with a pure question of law, whether a legal conclusion is classified as "erroneous" or "clearly erroneous" is a distinction without a difference. There are no varying degrees of legally erroneous, a legal conclusion based on an undisputed set of facts is either right or wrong.

This Court has stated, it is the duty of the courts when a question of law is properly presented, to state the true meaning of a statute, even though such requires the overthrow of an earlier erroneous administrative construction. *Cumero*, 49 Cal. 3d at 587. Here, the Opinion did just that, as it concluded "PERB's fundamental premise – that under agency principles Sanders' support for the CPRI converted it from a citizen-sponsored initiative on which no meet-and-confer obligations were imposed into a City Council-sponsored ballot proposal to which section 3504.5's meet-and-confer obligations became applicable – is legally erroneous." (Opn. at pp. 65-66.)

C. PERB and the Unions' Interpretation of Government
Code Section 3505 to Attempt to Turn the CPRI into a
City Sponsored Initiative Ignores Fundamental Principles
Governing the Charter Amendment Process and
Limitations Established by the City's Charter

PERB and the Unions attempt to hold the City liable for an MMBA violation under a statutory agency theory ignores the fact that Sanders had absolutely *no* authority without City Council direction or authorization, to sponsor or pursue a Charter amendment on behalf of the City. The City's Mayor derives his authority solely from the City's Charter. *See*, *e.g.*, *Lockyer v. City and County of San Francisco*, 33 Cal. 4th 1055, 1086 (2004) ("When a public official's authority to act in a particular area derives wholly from statute, the scope of that authority is measured by the terms of the governing statute.")

Pursuant to the San Diego City Charter, "[a]ll legislative powers of the City shall be vested, subject to the terms of this Charter and of the Constitution of the State of California, in the Council, except such legislative powers as are reserved to the people by the Charter and the Constitution of the State." San Diego Charter § 11. Accordingly, the City Council is the City's "governing body." *Id.*; *see also* San Diego Charter § 270.

For the City Council to act, it may do so *only* as a body. San Diego Charter § 15 ("Except as otherwise provided herein the affirmative vote of a majority of the members elected to the Council shall be necessary to adopt any ordinance, resolution, order or vote"); *see also* San Diego Charter § 270(c) ("No resolution, ordinance, or other action of the Council shall be passed or become effective without receiving the affirmative vote

of five members of the Council, unless a greater number is otherwise required by the Charter or other superseding law.") Furthermore, the City Council cannot delegate its legislative power or responsibility to the City's Mayor, individual Council members, or anyone else. San Diego Charter § 11.1.

PERB's Decision concluded that "when meeting and conferring with the employee representatives, the Mayor makes the initial determination of policy with regard to what position the City will take" (XI AR 186:002983.) It further erroneously held that "Sanders was a statutory agent of the City with actual authority to speak for and bind the City with initial proposals" (*Id.* at 186:003005.) Both conclusions blatantly ignore the fact that the Mayor *cannot* unilaterally establish or choose to pursue legislative policy on behalf of the City – only the City Council can and pursuant to the City Charter *such powers are nondelegable*.

Accordingly, contrary to PERB's findings, Sanders did not, and could not, have had the statutory authority to bind the City with initial legislative proposals, let alone the mere announcement of his desire to pursue pension reform via voter initiative *as a private citizen*. However, that is the finding this Court is being asked to reinstate in an effort to nullify the CPRI, a duly certified citizens' initiative.

Under Government Code section 3505,⁵ the "governing body" or "other representatives as may be properly designated by law or such

The governing body of a public agency, or such boards, commissions, administrative officers or other representatives as may be properly designated by law or by such governing body, shall meet and confer in good faith regarding wages, hours, and other terms and conditions of employment with representatives of such recognized employee

⁵ Government Code section 3505 states:

governing body," must meet-and-confer on subject matters of bargaining "prior to arriving at a determination of policy or course of action." The "determination of policy or course of action" with regards to a legislative act referred to in Government Code section 3505 *must* be made by the "governing body" – the City Council. Otherwise it would constitute an improper delegation of legislative authority. *See Kugler v. Yocum*, 69 Cal. 2d 731, 735 (1968); *Bolger v. City of San Diego*, 239 Cal. App. 2d 888, 893 (1966) ("An attempted delegation of power to an officer of a municipality where no standards are established by which the officer shall be governed in his actions, is in effect an attempted delegation of authority to legislate and therefore void"); *Ex parte Stone*, 48 Cal. App. 463 (1920) (noting when all legislative power is vested in city council by charter any intention to abridge that power must be made manifest by express provision and cannot be presumed or implied).

While it is true the Mayor may conduct negotiations with the Unions, even his opening offer at the negotiation table *must* be approved by

organizations, as defined in subdivision (b) of Section 3501, and shall consider fully such presentations as are made by the employee organization on behalf of its members prior to arriving at a determination of policy or course of action.

"Meet and confer in good faith" means that a public agency, or such representatives as it may designate, and representatives of recognized employee organizations, shall have the mutual obligation personally to meet and confer promptly upon request by either party and continue for a reasonable period of time in order to exchange freely information, opinions, and proposals, and to endeavor to reach agreement on matters within the scope of representation prior to the adoption by the public agency of its final budget for the ensuing year. The process should include adequate time for the resolution of impasses where specific procedures for such resolution are contained in local rule, regulation, or ordinance, or when such procedures are utilized by mutual consent.

the City Council. (XII AR 189:003226:11-3227:6.) Here, that never occurred. Sanders has no statutory authority to make a legislative policy decision or determine a course of action concerning legislative policy without City Council direction and approval. The cases pointed to by the Unions and PERB are distinguishable and therefore irrelevant, as they involve actions were there was no necessary predicate involvement by the government body, as is required in the present situation. (Unions' Brief at pp. 44-45 n.16 & 17; PERB Brief at pp. 51-52 n.13.)

Accordingly, Sanders' support of the CPRI cannot legally have turned it into a "City-sponsored" initiative, let alone a "government body" sponsored initiative subject to MMBA meet-and-confer requirements. See, e.g., First Street Plaza Partners v. City of Los Angeles, 65 Cal. App. 4th 650 (1998) (holding the provisions of a city's charter cannot be satisfied by implication or procedures different than those specified in the charter).

D. The Court of Appeal Correctly Determined PERB's

Attempt to Use a Common Law Agency Theory to Find

Sanders' Actions Transformed the CPRI Into a

Government Sponsored Initiative Was Erroneous

It is a municipal law maxim, that any act that violates the City's Charter is void. *Domar Electric, Inc. v. City of Los Angeles*, 9 Cal. 4th 161,

The City does not dispute that a recognized employee organization may itself trigger an employer's duty to bargain by a demand to meet-and-confer over a negotiable subject absent a government body proposal to take formal action. However, that never occurred in this case. As noted *infra* in Section D.4 the Unions are disingenuous in their claim they requested to meet-and-confer over a competing or alternative ballot measure concerning the subject matter covered by the CPRI. Instead, claiming the CPRI was a "sham" initiative and not a true citizens' initiative, their demands were to meet-and-confer over the CPRI.

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